
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

NORFOLK DIVISION 

HEADGEAR, INC., 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

DANIEL LEE d/b/a MANHATTAN, 

Defendant. 

No. 

Jury Trial Demanded 

Assigned to: 

COMPLAINT 

COMES NOW Plaintiff Headgear, Inc., and as its Complaint in this action against Daniel 

Lee doing business as Manhattan, shows the Court the following: 

I. Jurisdiction and Venue 

1. This is a civil action seeking damages and injunctive relief for copyright 

infringement under the copyright laws of the United States (17 U.S.C. § 101 et seq.) and for 

trade dress infringement, false designation of origin, and unfair competition arising under the 

Trademark Act of 1946, as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§1051-1127. This Court has jurisdiction under 

17 U.S.C. § 101 et seq.; 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question); and 28 U.S.C. § 1338(a) (copyright 

and trademark). 

2. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendant, and venue in this District 

is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 28 U.S.C. § 1400(a), in that the Defendant resides in 

this District, and the acts of infringement complained of herein occurred in this District. 



II. Parties 

3. Plaintiff, Headgear, Inc., is a corporation duly organized by law having its 

principal place of business at 3409 Chandler Creek Road, Virginia Beach, Virginia 23453. 

4. Defendant Daniel Lee is a resident of this District doing business as Manhattan 

stores, which conduct business in this District at 880 North Military Highway #1135, Norfolk, 

Virginia 23502, and 701 Lynnhaven Parkway #1270, Virginia Beach, Virginia 23452. 

III. Facts Common to All Counts 

5. Plaintiff is in the business of selling clothing at retail and wholesale, which is sold 

under various trademarks, including the BLAC LABEL mark. 

6. Plaintiff is, and at all material times has been, the copyright owner under United 

States copyright laws with respect to certain original copyrighted artistic works (the 

"Copyrighted Works"), including but not limited to, original copyrighted artistic works, 

representations of which are attached hereto as Exhibit A. which are the subject of valid 

Certificates of Copyright Registration issued by the U.S. Register of Copyrights, copies of which 

are attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

7. Among the exclusive rights granted to Plaintiff under the Copyright Act are the 

exclusive rights to reproduce, display, and distribute to the public the Copyrighted Works, and 

the exclusive right to prepare derivative works based on the Copyrighted Works. 

8. Defendant is in the business of selling clothing at retail and wholesale. 

9. The photographs attached hereto as Exhibit C show front and back views of 

clothing items sold by Defendant. 



10. The items of clothing shown in Exhibit C contain substantial portions of the 

Copyrighted Works shown in Exhibit A. 

11. The sale and offer for sale of these items by Defendant constitute reproduction, 

display, and distribution of the Copyrighted Works and/or preparation of derivative works based 

on the Copyrighted Works and infringe Plaintiffs copyrights and exclusive rights under U.S. 

copyright laws. 

12. Upon information and belief, in addition to the items of clothing shown in Exhibit 

C, Defendant is selling and offering for sale numerous other clothing items containing substantial 

portions of the Copyrighted Works, the sale and offer for sale of which constitute reproduction, 

display, and distribution of the Copyrighted Works and/or preparation of derivative works based 

on the Copyrighted Works and infringe Plaintiffs copyrights and exclusive rights under U.S. 

copyright laws. 

IV. Claim For Relief- Copyright Infringement 

13. Plaintiff hereby realleges paragraphs 1-12 of the Complaint as if fully restated 

herein. 

14. Defendant, without the permission or consent of Plaintiff, has reproduced, 

displayed, and distributed, and continues to reproduce, distribute, and display substantial 

portions of the Copyrighted Works. 

15. Defendant, without the permission or consent of Plaintiff, has prepared derivative 

works and continues to prepare derivative works based on the Copyrighted Works. 

16. Through its reproduction, display, and distribution of substantial portions of the 

Copyrighted Works and its preparation of derivative works based on the Copyrighted Works, 



Defendant has violated and continues to violate Plaintiffs exclusive rights of reproduction, 

distribution, display, and preparation of derivative works. Defendant's actions constitute 

infringement of Plaintiff s copyrights and exclusive rights under U.S. copyright laws. 

17. On April 23,2008, Plaintiff, through counsel, sent a letter to Defendant (the "First 

Letter") directing Defendant to cease and desist, by May 2,2008, from its reproduction, display, 

and distribution of substantial portions of the Copyrighted Works and its preparation of 

derivative works based on the Copyrighted Works. Copies of the First Letter and delivery 

confirmation from the United States Postal Service are attached hereto as Exhibit P. 

18. On May 2, 2008, Defendant responded to Plaintiffs letter with the letter attached 

hereto as Exhibit E. acknowledging that Defendant sold the infringing items of clothing shown in 

Exhibit C, apologizing, and stating, "In the future, I will be very cautious as to what I order for 

the store." 

19. Notwithstanding the notice given in the Letter, Plaintiff discovered that at least 

one new item of clothing subsequently found in Defendant's store was infringing its copyright 

rights, evidencing Defendant's continued reproduction, display, and distribution of substantial 

portions of the Copyrighted Works and its preparation of derivative works based on the 

Copyrighted Works. 

20. On July 8, 2008, Plaintiff, through counsel, sent a letter to Defendant (the 

"Second Letter") notifying Defendant of the new item of infringing clothing found in 

Defendant's store, and further notifying Defendant of its infringement of Plaintiff s trade dress, 

as set forth more particularly in Section V of this Complaint. A copy of the Second Letter is 

attached hereto as Exhibit F. 



21. On July 24,2008, Defendant, through counsel, sent a letter (copy attached hereto 

as Exhibit G) in reply to Plaintiffs Second Letter, stating that Defendant did not infringe any of 

Plaintiffs rights, and threatening to take action against Plaintiff for "continued harassment" of 

Plaintiff. 

22. The foregoing acts of copyright infringement have been and are willful and 

intentional, in disregard of and with indifference to the rights of Plaintiff. 

23. As a result of Defendant's infringement of Plaintiff s copyrights and exclusive 

rights under copyright laws, Plaintiff is entitled to statutory damages pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 

504(c) for Defendant's infringement of the Copyrighted Works. In addition, Plaintiff is entitled 

to damages by law for Defendant's willful acts of copyright infringement. These damages may 

include by election statutory damages of up to $150,000 per infringing act of Defendant. Plaintiff 

further is entitled to its attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 505. 

24. The conduct of Defendant is causing and, unless enjoined and restrained by this 

Court, will continue to cause Plaintiff great and irreparable injury that cannot fully be 

compensated or measured in money. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law. Pursuant to 17 

U.S.C. §§ 502 and 503, Plaintiff is entitled to injunctive relief (both preliminary and permanent) 

prohibiting Defendant from further infringing Plaintiffs copyrights and violating Plaintiffs 

exclusive rights under U.S. copyright laws. This injunctive relief is not adverse to public interest. 

25. Plaintiff requests a trial by jury in this action. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that judgment be entered by this Honorable Court in its 

favor and against Defendant as follows: 



A. For an injunction (both preliminary and permanent) prohibiting Defendant from 

further infringing Plaintiffs copyrights and violating Plaintiffs exclusive rights under U.S. 

copyright laws, in particular, providing: 

"Defendant shall be and hereby is enjoined from directly or indirectly infringing 

Plaintiffs rights under federal law in the Copyrighted Works and any other original 

artistic work, whether now in existence or later created, that is owned or controlled by 

Plaintiff (collectively, 'Plaintiffs Works'), including, without limitation, the reproduction, 

display, and distribution to the public of substantial portions of Plaintiff s Works and the 

preparation of derivative works based on Plaintiffs Works, except pursuant to a lawful 

license or with the express authority of Plaintiff. Defendant also shall destroy all copies 

of Plaintiff s Works and all derivative works prepared from Plaintiffs Works in 

Defendant's possession, custody, or control and certify to the Court within 14 days that 

all such copies have been destroyed." 

B. For Defendant to account for and pay over to Plaintiff all damages sustained by 

Plaintiff; 

C. For Defendant to account for and pay over to Plaintiff all profits realized by 

Defendant by reason of its unlawful acts alleged herein, as provided by law; 

D. For Defendant to pay Plaintiff statutory damages for each infringement of each of 

the Copyrighted Works pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504; 

E. For Defendant to pay Plaintiff punitive damages as may be permitted by law or in 

the discretion of the Court; 



F. For Defendant to pay Plaintiff its attorney's fees and costs expended herein; and 

G. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

V. Claim For Relief- Trade Dress Infringement, 

False Designation of Origin, and Unfair Competition 

26. Plaintiff hereby realleges paragraphs 1 -25 of the Complaint as if fully restated 

herein. 

27. The photographs attached hereto as Exhibit H show front and back views of a tag 

attached to clothing items sold by Plaintiff, which has been in continuous use by Plaintiff since at 

least as early as December 2006 and has acquired secondary meaning. 

28. Subsequent to Defendant's May 2,2008 letter acknowledging that Defendant sold 

the infringing items of clothing shown in Exhibit C. apologizing, and stating, "In the future, I 

will be very cautious as to what I order for the store," Plaintiff discovered clothing items in 

Defendant's store that have an attached tag, as shown in the photographs attached hereto as 

Exhibit I. which provide front and back views of the tag attached to clothing items sold by 

Defendant. 

29. The tag shown in Exhibit I was intentionally copied from Plaintiffs tag shown in 

Exhibit H to make it appear as though the tag was created by Plaintiff and to mislead consumers 

into believing that Plaintiff is the source of the products with which the tag shown in Exhibit I is 

used. 

30. Defendant's use of the tag shown in Exhibit I constitutes infringement of 

Plaintiffs unique trade dress. 



31. The aforesaid acts of Defendant are likely to cause confusion, mistake, or deception 

among consumers as to the source or origin of the parties' respective products by reason of the 

fact that consumers believe and are likely to believe that Defendant's products originate from, or 

are in some way properly connected with, approved by, sponsored by, or endorsed by Plaintiff. 

32. The aforesaid acts of Defendant constitute trade dress infringement, false 

designation of origin, and unfair competition in violation of section 43(a) of the Trademark Act 

of 1946, as amended, 15 U.S.C. §1125(a). 

33. Upon information and belief, the aforesaid acts were undertaken willfully and 

with the intention of causing confusion, mistake, or deception, in disregard of and with 

indifference to the rights of Plaintiff. 

34. As a result of the aforesaid acts, Plaintiff is entitled to damages pursuant to 15 

U.S.C. § 1117(a), including treble damages, attorneys' fees, and costs. 

35. By reason of the acts of Defendant alleged herein, Plaintiff has suffered, is suffering, 

and will continue to suffer irreparable damage, and, unless Defendant is restrained from 

continuing these wrongful acts, the damage to Plaintiff will increase. 

36. The conduct of Defendant is causing and, unless enjoined and restrained by this 

Court, will continue to cause Plaintiff great and irreparable injury that cannot fully be 

compensated or measured in money. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law. 

37. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§1116, Plaintiff is entitled to injunctive relief (both 

preliminary and permanent) prohibiting Defendant from its further acts of trade dress 

infringement, false designation of origin, and unfair competition. This injunctive relief is not 

adverse to public interest. 



38. Plaintiff requests a trial by jury in this action. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that judgment be entered by this Honorable Court in its 

favor and against Defendant as follows: 

A. For an injunction against Defendant permanently enjoining and restraining 

Defendant from: 

(i) using in any manner the tag shown in Exhibit I and any other trade dress likely 

to cause confusion with Plaintiffs tag shown in Exhibit H in connection with the 

advertising, promotion, or sale of its goods or likely to create the erroneous belief that 

Defendant's goods are authorized by, sponsored by, licensed by, or are in some way 

associated with Plaintiff; 

(ii) otherwise engaging in any other acts or conduct that would cause consumers 

to erroneously believe that Defendant's goods are somehow sponsored by, authorized by, 

licensed by, or in any other way associated with Plaintiff; 

B. For Defendant to account for and pay over to Plaintiff all damages sustained by 

Plaintiff; 

C. For Defendant to account for and pay over to Plaintiff all profits realized by 

Defendant by reason of its unlawful acts alleged herein, and that such amounts be trebled, as 

provided by law; 

D. For Defendant to pay Plaintiff punitive damages as may be permitted by law or in 

the discretion of the Court; 



E. For Defendant to pay Plaintiff its attorney's fees and costs expended herein; 

F. For Plaintiff to have such other and further relief as the Court may deem 

appropriate to prevent the public from deriving the erroneous impression that any goods or 

services provided by or promoted by Defendant are authorized by Plaintiff or related in any way 

to Plaintiff or its products; and 

G. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

Respectfully submitted, 

HEADGEAR, INC., 

Dated: September 5.2008 

MENDELSOHN & ASSOCIATES, P.C. 

Kevin M. Drucker, Esquire (Va. Bar No. 40563) 

1500 John F. Kennedy Blvd., Suite 405 

Philadelphia, PA 19102 

(215)557-6659 

Attorneys for Plaintiff, Headgear, Inc. 
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EXHIBIT B 
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Certificate of Registration 

••♦• 

Thu Certificate lisucd u:idet the s«jd uf the Copriipht 

Office in accordance with title l?. United State* Code, 

dllot* thai rc^iMutiou tituticcn made fin tht. vtviK 

identified below. The informattun on thu certificate ha* 

[teen nude a pun of the Copyright Office records. 

Register of Cupvri^hu, United Suiei of Atnchci 

R«Sfo(ralbn Number: 

VA 1-633-539 

Effrcthtdaicor 

May 16,^08 

Title-

ThlcofWork: BLACLABEL II 

Completion/Publication ————— 

Year of Complftton: Jl K)7 

Dateof 1Ul*ubllcalbii; AphU6 

Author 

■ Author: Headgear, Inc. 

Author Created: 2-Danvwi. 

Work taadt for hire; Yes 

Ciitaraof: United States 

Copyright claimant 

yarns of IM PubDcottoa: Uiiicd States 

Ooraitiled in: United Sta»> 

Copyright Ctabnaiii: Hcul|j«w. Inc. 

3409 Chandler Cr«* Kccd, Wrgirtia Beach. VA. 23453. United States 

Certification 

Name: Kevin M. Drudwt 

Date: May16.;o0$ 

fege I of 1 
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Certificate of Registration 

I tiK Ceititkate iisued. usuiif the seal uf the Copyright 

Olftcr in accordance with lltle 17. United Stato Code. 

attetik thai regiMiasion has b«n nude tor the work 

identified Ixlow. The tnfocmatiim on this ccnittcats ta 

hten made a pwl "1 the Copyigh' Offu 

Rejt«cr6f Cojnrights. United S»j1c« o VA 1-629-133 

Effective date of 

registration: 

Sfertli 2R. 2008 

Title 

Title of Wwfe BLACLUMl 1<>&BLAC LABVL 

Completion/ Publication 

Year of Completion: 2007 

DuteoMtiPbMkafUM! October IJ0U7 Nation of Id Publirahen: United Starts 

Author 

■ Author: Headgear, Irx 

Author Cmied: 2-

Wark madt for hire: Yn 

Glt/enof: Domiciled In: United Sum 

Copyright claimant 
Copyright Claimant: I IeuJgeur. Inc. 

.U# Chandler Creek ftced. VlrEtnia Beach, Va, 2M$\, Unttotl State* 

Certification 

Name: Kevin M. Drucker 

Uutc: Marcti 28.2008 
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Court.Raae; United States District Court 
Division: 2 

Receipt Huober: 246S3DB6432 
Cashier ID: pthorfas 
Transaction Date: 69/19/2066 
Payer Hase: HENDELSOHN AMD ASSC PC 

CIVIL FILING FEE 
For: REMDELSQHN AND ASSC PC 

Case/Party: D-VflE-c-88-CV-Q98<i3l-881 
fteount: $358.68 

CHECK 
Check/Honey Order Huo: 
flat Tendered: $35360 

Total Due: $350.89 
Total Tendered: $359.88 
Change flat: JO.83 

HEHDELSOHH AND ASSOC PC 

CIV FIL FEE 
2:B8CV431 



«JS44 (Rev. 12/07) CIVIL COVER SHEET 

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided 
by local rules of court This form approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating 
the Civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON THE REVERSE OF THE FORM.) 

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS 

Headgear, Inc. 

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff 
N/A 

(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES) 

(c) Attorney's (Finn Name, Address, and Telephone Number) 

Mendelsohn & Associates, P.C. 

1500 JEK Ehri., SUite 405, Rriifrfrlrtria, Eft 19102 

DEFENDANTS 

Daniel Lee d/b/a Manhattan 

County of Residence of First Listed Defendant N/A 

(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY) 

NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES. USE THE LOCATION OF THE 

LAND INVOLVED. 

Attorneys (If Known) 

II. BASIS OF JU RISDICTION (Place an "X" in One Box Only) 

3 1 U.S. Government 

Plaintiff 

□ 2 U.S. Government 

Defendant 

3- 3 Federal Question 

A (U.S. Government Not a Party) 

G 4 Diversity 

(Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III) 

III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES(Place an "X" in One Box for Plaintiff 
(For Diversity Cases Only) and One Box for Defendant) 

PTF DEF PTF DEF 

Citizen of This Stale SI O I Incorporated or Principal Place O 4 3 4 

of Business In This State 

Citizen of Another Slate 3 2 0 2 Incorporated and Principal Place OS 3 5 

of Business In Another Stale 

Citizen or Subject of a 

Foreign Country 

O J 0 3 Foreign Nation O 6 3 6 

V. ORIGIN (Place an "X" in One Box Only) 
XX) Original O 2 Removed from O 3 Remanded from O 4 Reinstated or O 5 

Proceeding State Court Appellate Court Reopened (srSedfvf 

Appeal to District 

O6 Multidistrict O 7 ffifJS!!1 
Litigation Judtment 

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION 

Cite the U S Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite junsdictional statutes unless diversity): 

ricn Kim o4- tag.? 15 USC §§1051-1127 
Brief descriptioff'of cause: 

Infringement of copvri 

VII. REQUESTED IN O CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION DEMANDS 

COMPLAINT: UNDER F.R.C.P. 23 

CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint: 

JURY DEMAND: M Yes O No 

VIII. RELATED CASE(S) 

IF ANY 
(Seemstructions): 

DOCKET NUMBER 

DATE 

9/8/2008 

SIGNAJUEBOF ATTORNEY Q) 

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 

RECEIPT S AMOUNT APPLYING IFP JUDGE MAG. JUDGE 
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Mendelsohn & Associates, P.C. 
Intellectual Property Law 

Kevin M. Drucker Suite 405 

Direct:(215)557-6659 1500 John F. Kennedy BLvniJJJ _u "8 P U: I ^Telephone (215)557-6656 
E-MAILrk.vlnlSmtndtUp.tom PHILADELPHIA, PA 19102 FACSIMILE (215) 557-8477 

September 5,2008 

VIA EXPRESS MAIL 

Clerk of Court 

United States District Court 

for the Eastern District of Virginia 

Walter E. Hoffinan United States Courthouse 

600 Granby Street 

Norfolk, VA 23510 

RE: Headgear, Inc. v. Daniel Lee d/b/a Manhattan 

OurRef.No.: 1152.056 

Dear Clerk: 

I enclose, for filing in the above-referenced matter, (i) an original Complaint, (ii) a 

service copy of the Complaint, (iii) a Summons, and (iv) a Disclosure Statement. A firm check 

in the amount of $350 for the filing fee is enclosed. 

Kindly return the service package to us by mail, since our office is not local to the 

courthouse. 

Please call me at 215-557-6659 if you have any questions. 

Very truly yours, 

Kevin M. Drucker 

For MENDELSOHN & ASSOCIATES, P.C. 

KMD:mec 

Enclosures 



Mendelsohn & Associates, P.C. 
Intellectual Property Law 

Kevin M. Drucker 

Direct: (215) 557-6659 

E-MAIU ktvlcWflmtndcUp.com 

Suite 405 .. 

1500 John F. Kennedy Blvd. / 'J", 1; . Z.. 
Philadelphia. PA 19102 

'■ ■ Telephone (215)557-6656 

Facsimile (215)557-8477 

September 8,2008 

VIA FEDERAL EXPRESS 

Ms. Rhonda Lambert 

Clerk's Office 

United States District Court 

for the Eastern District of Virginia 

Walter E. Hoffman United States Courthouse 

600 Granby Street 

Norfolk, VA 23510 

RE: Headgear, Inc. v. Daniel Lee d/b/a Manhattan 

OurRef.No.: 1152.056 

Dear Ms. Lambert: 

Per our discussion this afternoon, I enclose, for filing in the above-referenced matter, a 

Civil Cover Sheet. 

Kindly return the service package to us by mail, since our office is not local to the 

courthouse. 

Please call me at 215-557-6659 if you have any questions. 

Very truly yours, 

Kevin M. Drucker 

For MENDELSOHN & ASSOCIATES, P.C. 

KMD:mec 

Enclosures 



Mendelsohn & Associates, P.C. 
Intellectual Property Law 

Kevin M. Drucker Suite 405 

Direct: (215) 557-6659 1500 John F. Kennedy Blvd. Telephone (215)557-6656 

E-MAIL: ktvin«!ra«jddip.com PHILADELPHIA, PA 19102 FACSIMILE (215) 557-8477 

September 9, 2008 

VIA EXPRESS MAIL 

Ms. Rhonda Lambert 

Clerk's Office 

United States District Court 

for the Eastern District of Virginia 

Walter E. Hoffman United States Courthouse 

600 Granby Street 

Norfolk, VA 23510 

RE: Headgear, Inc. v. Daniel Lee d/b/a Manhattan 

OurRef.No.: 1152.056 

Dear Ms. Lambert: 

Per our discussion this afternoon, I enclose firm check no. 4261 in the amount of $350.00 

for the filing fee in the above-referenced matter. Kindly return to us the undated check you 

previously received from us along with the service package to us by mail, since our office is not 

local to the courthouse. 

Please call me at 215-557-6659 if you have any questions. 

Very truly yours, 

Kevin M. Drucker 

For MENDELSOHN & ASSOCIATES, P.C. 

KMD:mec 

Enclosures 
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